FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/24/2020 2:26 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98937-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 80609-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES GUETTLER,

Respondent,

v.

CAROL GUETTLER,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459 Miller@carneylaw.com Randolph J. Johnson, WSBA No. 50129 johnson@carneylaw.com CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215

Attorneys for Petitioner Carol Guettler

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED6		
	A. Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4) Because the Decision Impermissibly Modified the Decree, Which is a Judgment, Contrary to Settled Washington Case and Statutory Law, Excusing the Husband From His Share of the Marital Debts While Requiring the Wife to Pay Hers. 6		
	 B. Review Should Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4) Because the Decision Improperly Modified The Decree By Dissregarding Wife's Judgment Rights As to Husband's Debts And Thereby Failed To Construe And Give Effect To The Decree As A Whole. 		
	C. Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), & (4) To Insure The Result In This Decision And Future Decisions Are Consistent With And Apply The Applicable Law For Enforcement of Dissolution Decrees, Thus Showing By Their Results What The Law Is. 12		
VI.	CONCLUSION14		

APPENDIX A

	Page(s)
June 15, 2020 Unpublished Opinion	. A-1 to A-13
July 24, 2020 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration	A-14
March 31-2006 Decree of Dissolution (CP 14-20)	A-15 to A-21
April 14, 2006 Order re CR 60(a) Correction to Decree (CP 29-30)	A-22 to A-23

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases Page(s)
<i>Byrne v. Ackerlund</i> , 108 Wn.2d 445, 739 P.2d 1138 (1987)
Callan v. Callan, 2 Wn.App. 446, 468 P.2d 456 (1970)
Christensen v. Ellsworth, 162 Wn.2d 365, 173 P.3d 228 (2007)
Farmer v. Farmer, 172 Wn.2d 616, 259 P.3d 256 (2011)
Gamboa v. Clark, 180 Wn. App. 256, 321 P.3d 1236 (2014), aff'd, 183 Wn.2d 38, 348 P.3d 1214 (2015)
Gormley v. Robertson, 120 Wn.App. 31, 83 P.3d 1042 (2004)
Guardado v. Guardado, 200 Wn.App. 237, 402 P.3d 357 (2017)
In re Marriage of Lee and Kennard, 176 Wn.App. 678, 310 P.3d 845 (2013)
In re Marriage of Thompson, 97 Wn.App. 873, 988 P.2d 499 (1999)10-11
In re Marriage of Verbin, 92 Wn.2d 171, 595 P.2d 905 (1979)
Kern v. Kern, 28 Wn.2d 617, 183 P.2d 811 (1947)10-11
OneWest Bank FSB v. Erickson, 185 Wn.2d 43, 367 P.3d 1063 (2016)
Spokane Secure Financing Co. vs. Bevan, 172 Wash. 418, 20 P. 2d 31 (1933) 5
State v. Arreola, 176 Wn.2d 284, 290 P.3d 983 (2012)

Page(s				
State v. Evans, 177 Wn.2d 186, 298 P.3d 724 (2013)				
Statutes and Court Rules				
Civil Rule 60				
RAP 13.4(1)3, 6, 9, 11, 12				
RAP 13.4(2)3, 6, 9, 11, 12				
RAP 13.4(4)				
RCW 26.09.010(5)				
RCW 26.09.080				
RCW 26.09.150				
RCW 26.09.170				
Other Authorities				
O.W. Holmes, <i>The Path of the Law</i> , 10 HARV. L. REV. 457 (1897)				
Scott Horenstein, 20 WASH. PRACT., FAMILY AND COMMUNITY PROPERTY LAW §§ 31:52 (2016)				
Scott Horenstein, 20 WASH. PRACT., FAMILY AND COMMUNITY PROPERTY LAW §§ 31:53 (2016)				
Scott Horenstein, 20 Wash. Pract., Family and Community Property Law §§ 32:40 (2016)				
Constitutional Provision				
U.S. Const. Art IV. 81				

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER & SUMMARY

Petitioner Carol Guettler, appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the June 15, 2020, Court of Appeals decision ("Decision") terminating review designated in Part II. The Decision disregarded express provisions of the property division decree ("Decree"), provisions specifying and allocating the parties' responsibility for marital debts, thus modifying the Decree contrary to statute and long-settled law. The result, if not corrected, unjustly enriches Respondent James Guettler ("Husband") by excusing him from paying his share of the marital debts assigned him in the Decree, debts Petitioner ("Wife") has paid on his behalf.

Review is warranted because this result conflicts with settled law for application and enforcement of a dissolution decree, which precludes modification absent a basis to vacate the decree. It results in unjust enrichment of the Husband in the final property division, contrary to the statutes and case law which require the ultimate property division be fair just, and equitable to both parties. Requiring payment of marital debts for one party but not the other here conflicts with the law forbidding modification of decrees and is contrary to the Decree's express terms and intent for the lien and marital debt to be resolved together, and to principles of Equity.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision ("Decision") was filed June 15, 2020. App. A-1 to 13. Reconsideration was denied July 24, 2020. App. A-14.

The appeal challenged trial court rulings requiring the Wife to sell the former marital home under what the Decree termed "Option A" to pay the Husband's equitable lien in the marital real property awarded to Wife in the 2006 Decree, without also requiring the Husband to pay the marital debts assigned to him in the Decree. The Husband could not pay those debts except by payment of the lien. The trial court failed to provide that his lien would be offset by those debts so that the property division could be completed.

The Decision affirmed that the Wife must pay the Husband's lien (which she did not contest), but reversed the determination the sale was pursuant to the provisions of "Option A", holding instead that the obligation to the Husband following disposition of the house was subject to the protocols of "Option B" of the Decree, which no longer applied. Relying on a 1933, non-marital decision not cited by either party, it essentially held that the Wife had to perfect her right to payment from the Husband for his share of marital debts, but then affirmed the order for the immediate sale of the former marital home without provision for addressing the marital debts the Decree ruled the Husband owed to the Wife at the time of payment of the lien. The net result is Wife must pay her debt to Husband for the marital real property award she received without an offset or set-off, while Husband is excused from paying via a set-off his substantial debt to the Wife of the various marital taxes, penalties, and loans she has already paid on his behalf.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court grant review where the Court of Appeals Decision effectively modified the property division Decree being enforced to relieve the Husband of his share of the marital debts, without meeting the limited criteria for modification, contrary to established case law? RAP 13.4(1), (2), and (4).
- 2. Should review be granted where the Court of Appeals' application of the Decree impermissibly modified and materially changed the property division by excusing Husband from all his marital debts under the Decree when enforcing his equitable lien, contrary to and frustrating the express provisions of the Decree and RCW 26.09.080, which requires a just and equitable division of the property, and unjustly enriching him? RAP 13.4(1), (2), and (4).
- 3. Should review be granted to insure the results of lower courts' decisions reflect their statements of the applicable legal principles, *i.e.*, that the substantive result of the ruling reflects and gives genuine effect to those principles? RAP 13.4(1), (2), and (4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are set forth in Wife's merits briefs, to which the Court is respectfully directed. These include the facts as to the underlying divorce and the litigation with Wife's parents over their loan to the young couple (OB at 4-7); the Decree's division of the

¹ The facts stated in the Decision must be viewed critically given its omissions and mistakes. As one example, it omits the material procedural fact that Wife sought and obtained a stay of the sale of the house by superseding the judgment with an implication in its text that she failed to take such a step. *See* Reconsideration Motion at pp. 1, 3 - 5 (filed 7/6/20) (challenging the Decision in Section B: "Carol Sought And Obtained Two Stays Of The Trial Court Rulings, The Second Of Which Is Still In Place").

parties' assets and liabilities (OB 7-9); Husband's efforts to avoid payment of the debts assigned to him (OB at 9-11); the trial court actions on Husband's effort to enforce his lien and Wife's effort to have the debts payable to her included in any net enforcement (OB at 11-16; RPY BR at 4-16, correcting facts asserted by Husband's brief in the context of arguments over the standard of review, preservation, and nature of review of a decree); and the order for sale of the former marital home and Wife's successful stay of that order by superseding the judgment (OB at 16-17).

The parties divorced in 2006, with Wife given primary responsibility for the four children. The Decree awarded Wife the family home and the marital apartment building while Husband (who was on disability and not earning money) was granted an equitable lien of \$300,000 on the real property and responsibility for his share of certain marital debts. App. A-19-21, CP 18-20. Those expressly stated debts at App. A-19, CP 18, included joint taxes and penalties for non-payment or late payment during the marriage and 1/3 the debt of approximately \$330,000 owed to Wife's parents who helped the couple start the real estate business they ran.

The trial court held that the lien right was exercised pursuant to ¶ III A. A. of Exhibit A to the Decree, called "Option A" (App. A-20, CP 19), which set out the protocol "if the wife decides not to sell the house and/or apartment building within the next twenty-four months, …" CP 19, App. A-20. The Decision held that was error,

that "Option B" applied, but that the debts Husband was ordered to pay under the Decree were not enforceable at this time.²

The Decree sets out the marital debts for which each party was responsible. App. A-16 to A-23, CP 15-20, CP 29-30.³ The Decree set forth two anticipated scenarios for disposition of the proceeds of the marital real estate, an apartment complex and a West Seattle family home depending on either of two scenarios anticipated to occur within the next several years. But neither occurred in the next several years after entry of the Decree in 2006. Nor did they occur five, ten, or even thirteen years later in 2019, when Husband first decided to enforce his lien. What did occur was that as the parties' youngest child neared 18 years old (and thus is no longer a

² The Court ruled that sale Option B applies to the facts of this case but declined to apply Option B's sale provisions for calculating the amount of Petitioner's lien, ruling that Option B was no longer applicable due to the passage of time. Decision at 12 fn. 6, App. A-12.). It also declined to address the question of the amount of Wife's offsetting lien on the basis that the amounts claimed have not yet been reduced to "judgment", citing Spokane Secure Financing Co. vs. Bevan, 172 Wash. 418, 20 P. 2d 31 (1933) Decision at 11, fn. 5, App. A-11). This analysis is incorrect because those debts are already part of the Decree and thus part of the judgment under the law of decrees and judgments discussed *infra*, making *Bevan* (which is not a marital dissolution case) doubly inapplicable. Further, the result unnecessarily complicates final resolution of the property division by failing to require those parts of the judgment be considered together with Husband's lien. Those obligations stated in the Decree were always intended to be addressed together for the simple reason that Husband did not show any likelihood of being able to pay those debts until such time as his lien was paid – but allowing his lien to be exercised without setting those debts off first means that the debts Husband owes to Wife will never be voluntarily paid by him given his determination to not pay any of the debts related to Wife's parents' loans and his recent relocation to Florida.

³ The "Judgment/Order Summaries" on the first page of the Decree (which is checked "Does not apply"), is only for the convenience of the clerk in noting an amount for the judgment rolls. It does not change or alter the nature of the judgment it summarizes as of the date of filing. As discussed *infra*, the entire judgment is what matters and given effect. *See also* RPY BR at 20-21, discussing that the judgment summary does not preclude giving effect to all the provisions of the Decree.

basis for Husband to pay child support), Husband brought an action to foreclose on his lien rights by selling the house or forcing a refinance, in which he resisted Wife's effort to have his marital debts set off against his lien rights. Huband's clearly stated effort was to take the lien money and not repay Wife for any of her payments on his behalf of the marital debts assigned to him. These included back taxes, IRS penalties, capital gains taxes paid on the apartments when sold in 2006, as well as 1/3 of Wife's repayment of the parents' loans. The Decision erroneously lets him do this.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4) Because the Decision Impermissibly Modified the Decree, Which is a Judgment, Contrary to Settled Washington Case and Statutory Law, Excusing the Husband From His Share of the Marital Debts While Requiring the Wife to Pay Hers.

A decree in a marital dissolution is required to dispose of the property and liabilities of the parties "as shall appear just and equitable after considering all relevant factors..." RCW 26.09.080. Per statute,⁴ marital dissolution decrees are judgments deciding the rights of the parties:

A decree of dissolution is a judgment, and in broad outline, the effect of a decree of dissolution is the same as the effect of a judgment in any other civil case. It determines the rights of the parties, it has res judicata and collateral estoppel

⁴ RCW 26.09.010(5) states: "In this chapter, 'decree" includes "judgment".

effects, it is entitled to full faith and credit in other jurisdictions, and so forth.

Scott Horenstein, 20 WASH.PRAC. FAMILY AND COMMUNITY PROPERTY LAW § 31:52 (2016) (footnotes omitted) (hereafter "Horenstein WASH.PRAC. §_").

A decree is final when entered, RCW 26.09.150, and a decree that, as here, was not appealed cannot be modified absent a proper basis for vacating a judgment per CR 60. RCW 26.09.170;⁵ *Guardado v. Guardado*, 200 Wn.App. 237, 242-243, 402 P.3d 357 (2017) (quoting statute and reversing trial court as outside its authority for modifying dissolution decree in an action separate from the dissolution action). *See, e.g., Byrne v. Ackerlund*, 108 Wn.2d 445, 453, 739 P.2d 1138 (1987) ("A property settlement agreement incorporated into a dissolution decree that was not appealed cannot be later modified."). No such basis for modification was alleged below or exists.

The recognition of the validity of decrees as judgments under the full faith and credit clause of the United States Constitution,

⁵ RCW 26.09.170 prohibits modification of a dissolution decree absent circumstances permitting reopening of a judgement. The statute provides:

The provisions as to property disposition may not be revoked or modified unless the court finds the existence of conditions that justify the reopening of a judgment under the laws of this state.

Accord, Horenstein, 20 WASH.PRAC. at § 32:40 ("The only remedies are to appeal the decree or to file a motion to vacate the decree pursuant to Civil Rule 60."). One example permitting the modification is for fraud. See, e.g., Farmer v. Farmer, 172 Wn.2d 616, 259 P.3d 256 (2011) (affirming trial court's vacation of marital property division decree where husband had fraudulently converted wife's share of stock options granted to her in the decree, then lying about it to the trial court).

which is essential given the highly mobile nature of individuals in contemporary society and includes giving credit to "property and debt determinations," serves to confirm the nature of marital decrees as binding judgments, all parts of which must be honored not just by foreign courts, but also by later courts. However, that is precisely what was *not* done by the Decision or trial court here and why review should be granted.

In this case the trial court decision, and the affirmance by Division One, both failed to give "full faith and credit" to the portion of the Decree and judgment that required the Husband to pay his share of marital debts (back taxes, capital gains taxes, loans) which had been paid for him by the Wife, by not requiring an offset to the lien when enforced. This fundamentally changes and impermissibly modifies the Decree, creating an inequity never intended by the dissolution court that entered the Decree, thereby unjustly enriching the Husband, which is improper in the context of a property division. *See Gormley v. Robertson*, 120 Wn.App. 31, 40, 83 P.3d 1042 (2004) (trial court affirmed where its ruling "prevent[ed] unjust enrichment.").

⁶ See Horenstein, WASH.PRAC. §31.53 (citing U.S. Const. Art IV, §1: "Full Faith and Credit shall be given in each State to the public acts, Records, and judicial Proceedings of every other State.").

⁷ See In re Marriage of Verbin, 92 Wn.2d 171, 176, 182-83, 595 P.2d 905 (1979) (refusing to enforce Maryland decree under the full faith and credit clause because the father had fraudulently obtained the Maryland decree by withholding facts from the Maryland court). See also OneWest Bank FSB v. Erickson, 185 Wn.2d 43, 367 P.3d 1063 (2016) (reversing Division III to give Idaho foreclosure order over real property full faith and credit where challenger could not show the Idaho court lacked jurisdiction).

Review should be granted because the effect – the *result* – of the decisions of the trial court and Court of Appeals is to fail to give the Decree's provisions requiring the Husband to pay his marital debts "full faith and credit" against his right stated in the Decree for payment of his lien. They created a one-way street that not only excised the portion of the Decree awarding the Wife reimbursement for the Husband's debts that she had been forced to pay on his behalf because he could not work, but also is completely at odds with the overall judgment awarded by the dissolution trial judge and the "fair, just, and equitable property division Judge Middough decreed, and which was not appealed. It cannot be modified at this late date without proper basis, which does not exist.

B. Review Should Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4)
Because the Decision Improperly Modified The Decree By
Dissregarding Wife's Judgment Rights As to Husband's
Debts And Thereby Failed To Construe And Give Effect
To The Decree As A Whole.

The Decision's fundamental error is in disregarding material parts of the Decree and failing to read it as a whole in a common sense manner that gives effect to what the trial court sought to do in crafting an equitable property division under all the circumstances. Here that was to resolve Husband's equitable lien on the realty at the same time as his marital debts to Wife, since that is when he would have the ability to repay her.

This common sense, "read as a whole" application of decrees is what established law has long required. *See, e.g., Kern v. Kern,* 28 Wn.2d 617, 619, 183 P.2d 811 (1947) (citing 1 BLACK ON JUDGMENTS (2d ed.), § 329 and Washington Supreme Court cases to 1921). *Accord, In re Marriage of Thompson,* 97 Wn.App. 873, 877-78, 988 P.2d 499 (1999) (citing *Kern*); *In re Marriage of Lee and Kennard,* 176 Wn.App. 678, 688, 310 P.3d 845 (2013) (citing *Thompson*). *See esp.* the Opening Brief at 18, 20-23 and the Reply Brief at 9-11, discussing *Callan v. Callan,* 2 Wn.App. 446, 449, 468 P.2d 456 (1970) for the settled principles used when determining the trial court's intent where a decree is ambiguous.

Then-Judge Horowitz summarized for Division One in 1970 the settled law on interpreting judgments in the context of the dissolution decree then before it:

These rules include the rule that the intention of the court is to be determined from all parts of the instrument, and that the judgment must be read in its entirety and must be construed as a whole so as to give effect to every word and part, if possible. 1 A. Freeman, LAW OF JUDGMENTS, s 76 (5th ed. 1925); H. Black, LAW OF JUDGMENTS, s 123 (2d ed. 1902); 3 W. Nelson, Divorce and Annulment, s 28.17 (2d ed. 1945); 49 C.J.S. Judgments s 436 (1947); 46 Am.Jur.2d JUDGMENTS s 73 (1969). The authorities above cited refer to two canons of construction, here particularly pertinent (1) that the court is not confined to ascertaining the meaning of a single word or phrase without regard to the entire judgment, and, if necessary, the judgment roll, and (2) that provisions in a judgment that are seemingly inconsistent will be harmonized if possible. It is not to be assumed that a court intended to

enter a judgment with contradictory provisions and thus impair the legal operation and effect of so formal a document. *Callan v. Callan*, 2 Wn.App. at 449. This law has not changed. Unfortunately, the Decision chose to ignore it, creating a direct conflict that warrants review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

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