FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/23/2020 1:28 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98937-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 80609-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES GUETTLER

Respondent

v.

CAROL GUETTLER

Petitioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deirdre Glynn Levin, WSBA No. 24226 DGL LAW, PLLC 3417 Evanston Ave. N., # 523 Seattle, WA 98103 Tel (206) 422-6378 Attorney for Respondent James Guettler

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. <u>None of the RAP 13.4(b) Criteria for Review are Met</u>

RAP 13.4(b) governs what type of cases will be accepted for review by this Court. Carol seeks review under RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2) and (4): "(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Carol's arguments under these three subsections are lazily lumped together, and not segregated, underscoring their weakness, and making this Court's review that much more difficult.

Nowhere in her Petition has Carol argued that there is any direct conflict with a specific Supreme Court decision. RAP 13.4(b)(1); *e.g. Hoflin v. City of Ocean Shores*, 121 Wn 2d 113 (1993). She cites generally to case law interpreting property settlement agreements, but she identifies no split of authority. Neither does she articulate any conflict between the Opinion and a published Court of Appeals decision (subsection 2). RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) are easily eliminated.

Turning to RAP 13.4(b)(4), that the petition involves "an issue of substantial public interest", Carol has not even alluded to any public interest. *eg. see State v. Tingdale*, 117 Wn 2d 595 (1991)(substantial public interest demonstrated where issues involve the jury selection process). How is the public interest even remotely impacted by the issues arising from this Petition? Only two people are interested

in this petition – the parties, who are private individuals. It involves one Judgment, and one asset, a single family home, which only the parties are interested in. This Decree is unique, with unique terms applicable only to these parties and their assets on the date of dissolution. No substantial public interest is affected. RAP 13.4(b)(4) is clearly not met.

Carol fails to establish the criteria under RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2) or (4) justifying this Court's review. The Petition should be denied.

B. The Decree was Properly Interpreted and was Not Modified

Introduction. The crux of the Petition is restated in variations on the same theme in Sections V.A and B of the Petition (pages 6-11). Section V.C is mere filler, consisting of general principals of family law. Addressing these sections of the Petition:

<u>Sections V.A and V.B of the Petition</u>. Carol argues the Opinion either modified the property division of the Decree or did not consider the entire document. She is incorrect. The Court of Appeals reviewed the *entire* Decree, comprehensively, analyzing all of the parties' rights and obligations as to property division <u>and</u> debt. It did not modify the sale proceeds division term, but did clarify it, which is exactly what Carol sought in her Motion for Clarification heard in the Superior Court on June 20, 2019 (Opinion at 5-7). In *In re Marriage of Christel and Blanchard*, 101 Wn. App. 13, 22, 1 P.3d 600 (Div. 1. 2000), the Court differentiated between a clarification and modification of a dissolution decree: A clarification of a dissolution decree is "merely a definition of the rights which have already been given and those rights may be completely spelled out if necessary." *Rivard v. Rivard*, 75 Wash.2d 415, 418, 451 P.2d 677 (1969). A modification, on the other hand, occurs when a party's rights are either extended beyond or reduced from those originally intended in the [1 P.3d 606] decree. *Rivard*, 75 Wash.2d at 418, 451 P.2d 677. A court may clarify a decree by defining the parties' respective rights and obligations, if the parties cannot agree on the meaning of a particular provision. (*citation deleted*).

Neither party has a right to modification, and neither asked for one or received one. Carol's argument fails.

<u>Section V.C of the Petition</u> Section V.C of the Petition (pages 12-13) is merely boilerplate language which can be ignored. In this section, Carol does not even discuss RAP 13.4(b) standards, the parties or the Opinion. This is basically filler – containing quotes from 1897, and statements expressing general discontent about policy, e.g., "review should be granted because the disconnect between the legal principles and what the courts do in fact is far too common in family law cases". Petition at 13.

C. <u>The Opinion is Consistent with Law Applicable to Interpretation of the</u> <u>Decree</u>

Carol's argument that she is entitled to receive a set off against the Judgment lacks any legal authority. She has not challenged the controlling authority, cited in the Opinion at page 11, n.5. *Spokane Sec. Fin. Co. v. Bevan*, 172 Wash 418, 421-

22, 20 P.2d 31 (1933). No principle permits a party to offset a mere claim against a judgment. *Id*.

Carol has also not challenged the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Option B's sale proceeds division *never became applicable*.⁴ The Court of Appeals held, "Even if, arguendo, Option B's sale proceeds division provisions had any effect on the judgment amount, **Carol still could not benefit therefrom because she failed to sell the house as required for Option B's sale proceeds division to apply**." Opinion, Page 12 n.6 (emphasis added).

Carol's argument boils down to "I still don't like how the Decree is interpreted because this result seems unfair *to me*". But her complaint rings hollow. In fact, Carol has it completely backwards. "We further note that it would be inequitable for James to be forced to comply with the Option B sales proceeds provision, and thus face a greater risk that he fail to recover to his full lien amount, **after Carol financially benefitted from her failure to comply** with Option B's requirement that the house be sold to satisfy the lien." Opinion, Page 12, n. 6 (emphasis added). It is *Carol's* interpretation which would be unfair and inequitable to James. Carol has only herself to blame: it is because of her noncompliance with the Decree that she is in this legal situation, looking to courts at

⁴ Carol sought <u>again</u> to enforce her rights by filing a motion on August 17, 2020 in Superior Court citing the Opinion in support. After hearing on September 21, 2020, that Court concluded it lacked jurisdiction, and sanctioned Carol. Appendix A.

every level in this State for relief. She now looks to the highest court in this State to bail her out from her own failure.

D. <u>The Petition is Frivolous and was Filed for the Purpose of Delay,</u> Warranting Sanctions under RAP 18.9 and Attorneys' Fees under RCW 26.09.140

<u>RAP 18.9(a)</u>. The Petition is frivolous and Carol filed it for only one purpose - to delay James' execution of the Judgment. This Court is respectfully asked to consider ordering sanctions against Carol and/or her counsel under RAP 18.9(a) which provides in part:

Sanctions. The appellate court on its own initiative or on motion of a party may order a party or counsel, or a court reporter or authorized transcriptionist preparing a verbatim report of proceedings, who uses these rules for the purpose of delay, files a frivolous appeal, or fails to comply with these rules to pay terms or compensatory damages to any other party who has been harmed by the delay or the failure to comply or to pay sanctions to the court. The appellate court may condition a party's right to participate further in the review on compliance with terms of an order or ruling including payment of an award which is ordered paid by the party. (emphasis added)

Green River Community College, Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Educ. Personnel Bd., 107

Wn.2d 427, 442-43, 730 P.2d 653 (1986) outlined five considerations for a frivolous

appeal:

In determining whether an appeal is frivolous and was, therefore, brought for the purpose of delay, justifying the imposition of terms and compensatory damages, we are guided by the following considerations: (1) A civil appellant has a right to appeal under RAP 2.2; (2) all doubts as to whether the appeal is frivolous should be resolved in favor of the appellant; (3) the record should be considered as a whole; (4) an appeal that is affirmed simply because

the arguments are rejected is not frivolous; (5) an appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ, and it is so totally devoid of merit that there was no reasonable possibility of reversal.

Considering the five *Green River* elements, the Court can conclude the Petition is frivolous. It lacks a bona fide ground for review and is devoid of merit. The RAP 13.4 criteria were not addressed and instead, only given the most superficial treatment. *Rhinehart v. Seattle Times*, 59 Wn.App. 332, 340, 798 P.2d 1155 (1990) ("A frivolous action is one that cannot be supported by any rational argument on the law or facts"); *Namiki v. ICT Law and Technology Group, PLLC*, 421 P.3d 460 (Wash. 2018) (ordering sanctions against Petitioners for filing a frivolous petition for review). The fifth consideration is met: there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ.

As to the third consideration, the record as a whole, Carol's non-compliance with the Decree since 2006,⁵ and the history of the litigation since June 2019, demonstrates her track record of using the courts of the State of Washington to avoid payment of the Judgment and block sale of the Property. This chart may be helpful to show the procedural history:

Nature of Motion	Order
Carol's Motion for	Order Denying Motion for Clarification; June 20,
Clarification	2019 (Family Court Commissioner Nancy
	Bradburn-Johnson)

⁵ Carol failed to comply with the Decree in that she did not pay James any part of the \$225,000 remainder over a period of over 14 years. She is in contempt.

Carol's Motion for	Order Denying Respondent's Motion for Revision;
Revision of the Order	August 27, 2019 (Hon. Sandra Widlan)
Carol's Motion for	Order Denying Respondent's Motion for
Reconsideration of Denial	Reconsideration; September 12, 2019 (Hon. Sandra
of Motion for Revision	Widlan)
James's Motion to Direct	Order Directing Sale of Real Property (the "Sale
Sale of Real Property	Order"); October 17, 2019 (Hon. Patrick Oishi)
Carol's Motion for	Order Denying Reconsideration; November 7, 2019
Reconsideration of the	(Hon. Patrick Oishi)
Sale Order	
Carol's Motion for Use of	Order Denying in Part and Granting in Part
Property as Alternate	Respondent's Motion for Alternate Security and
Security	Setting amount of Supersedeas Bond; November 15,
	2019 (Hon. Douglass North)
Carol's Appeal to Court	Opinion; June 15, 2020 (Dwyer, J., Appelwick, J.
of Appeals, Division I	and Leach, J., concurring)
Carol's Motion for	Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration; July 24,
Reconsideration to Court	2020 (Dwyer, J.)
of Appeals, Division I	
Carol's Motion to Enforce	Order Denying Motion to Enforce Decree; Sept. 21,
Decree (see Appendix A)	2020 (King County Superior Court Family Comm.
	Nicole Wagner)

Carol's pattern of litigation for the purpose of delaying James' execution of his Judgment is evident. This Petition showcases how Carol pushes ahead, ignoring the legal standards, with her *modus operandi* of using this Court to block James' exercise of his rights. *Seattle Iron & Metals Corp. v. Xie* (Division I, July 30, 2012 unpublished)(ordering fees against appellant for frivolous appeal under RAP 18.9).⁶ Delay in judgment execution while the Petition is pending is harmful to James. "Spouses are entitled to receive their share of the community property within a

⁶ Cited pursuant to GR 14.1(a).

reasonable time." *In re Marriage of Foley*, 84 Wn. App. 839, 844, 930 P.2d 929 (1997) citing *In re Marriage of Sedlock*, 69 Wash. App. 484, 503, 849 P.2d 1243, review denied, 122 Wash.2d 1014, 863 P.2d 73 (1993). The Court of Appeals found that "reasonable time" had expired in this case. Opinion at 12, n.6. ("While we need not decide that which would constitute such a reasonable time to resolve the issues presented herein, it is apparent that it would be shorter than the over 10 years that have passed between entry of the decree and the present day."

In *Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center v. Holman*, 107 Wn. 2d 693, 732 P.2d 974 (Div I. 1987), the Court of Appeals ordered attorneys' fees for answering an appeal under RCW 4.84.185. It held that appellant's "case appears frivolous... the bank's theory seems credible that Holman is using the appeal process to delay execution on the judgments against him." *Id*. 107 Wn. 2d at 718. The same analysis applies here.

And the delay in judgment execution is, correspondingly, financially *advantageous* to Carol. The Property is the only available asset available to satisfy the Judgment. It is alternate security for the supersedeas bond. By filing this Petition, Carol gets to hold on to the Property for several more months (at least), and financially benefitting her by receiving the income she generates from its rental.

The irony is that Carol did not raise the Sale Order in her issues presented for review. However, just by filing this Petition, the sale of the Property has already been delayed more than three months since entry of the Opinion.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 16

Again, this was a deliberate strategy by Carol. It should not be tolerated.

James requests that sanctions be awarded in the amount of the reasonable attorney fees and expenses incurred in filing his answer to the petition for review, pursuant to RAP 18.9(a).

<u>RCW 26.09.140</u>. James asks this court to apply RCW 26.09.140, and consider his lack of financial resources, balancing his financial need against Carol's ability to pay. RAP 18.1(j).

The statute provides:

The court from time to time after considering the financial resources of both parties may order a party to pay a reasonable amount for the cost to the other party of maintaining or defending any proceeding under this chapter and for reasonable attorneys' fees or other professional fees in connection therewith, including sums for legal services rendered and costs incurred prior to the commencement of the proceeding or enforcement or modification proceedings after entry of judgment. **Upon any appeal, the appellate court may, in its discretion, order a party to pay for the cost to the other party of maintaining the appeal and attorneys' fees in addition to statutory costs. The court may order that the attorneys' fees be paid directly to the attorney who may enforce the order in his or her name. (emphasis added)**

RCW 26.09.140 gives this Court discretion to order a party to pay for the cost to the other party of maintaining the appeal and attorneys' fees in addition to statutory costs. *In re Marriage of Kim*, 179 Wn.App. 232, 256, 317 P.3d 555 (Div. 3 2014), citing *In re Marriage of C.M.C.*, 87 Wn.App. 84, 89, 940 P.2d 669 (1997)(court

considers the arguable merit of the issues on appeal and the parties' financial resources).

The parties' relative financial means are evident from this record. As Carol correctly notes, James is on disability. Petition at 4. Besides the advantage to Carol to delay the sale of the Property, and detriment to James, the weight and cost of litigation is a huge drain on James' very limited financial resources, as well as this Court's valuable time and resources.

This past year and a half of intensive litigation (approximately) has had the effect of depleting James of his tiny cash resources even to pay his legal costs, let alone his legal fees (which have been deferred).⁷ Carol posted a \$40,000 supersedeas cash bond (in addition the Property as alternate security) to stay execution of the Judgment. She has the Property and earns rental income from the Property. Apparently, she has a hidden war chest of funds to hire two attorneys to fight her legal battles against James in three courts. The Court should recognize Carol's improper litigation tactics, specifically this Petition, which are calculated to wear James down, hoping he gives up pursuing his legal rights and entitlement.

For these reasons, fees should be awarded to James under RCW 26.09.140.

⁷ The Court of Appeals surmised, without evidence, that James would be able to pay his legal fees following the collection of the remaining amount of his Judgment lien (Opinion Page 12-13, n. 7), however, it did not anticipate the additional time and resources required to answer this Petition.

V. CONCLUSION

Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b). Sanctions are warranted under RAP

18.9. An award of attorney fees to James is proper under RCW 26.09.140.